IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

VANCE TAYLOR,) Supreme Count 18971) District Case No 6 0882096731:51 a.m	
Appellant, v.) District Case No 公 882046731:51 a.m.) Elizabeth A. Brown) Clerk of Supreme Court	
TRUCKEE MEADOWS FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT; AND ALTERNATIVE SERVICE CONCEPTS,)))	
Respondents.)))	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

HUTCHISON & STEFFEN, PLLC

Michael K. Wall (2098) Peccole Professional Park 10080 Alta Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Attorney for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(1), and must be disclosed:

Appellant Vance Taylor is an individual.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from an order of the district court denying appellant Vance Taylor's petition for judicial review of a decision of the Nevada Department of Administration Appeals Officer Sheila Y. Moore in a case arising under the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act ("NIIA"), commonly referred to as worker's compensation. AA 586.¹ The order is appealable pursuant to NRS 233B.150 and NRAP 3A(b)(1).

The district court's order was entered on May 10, 2019. AA 586. Notice of entry of the order was served by appellant on all respondents by mail or electronic means on May 15, 2019. AA596. Appellant filed his notice of appeal on June 7, 2019. AA 610. The notice of appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(9) (appeals from administrative agency cases), this appeal is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. This case involves error correction based on established law. Thus, the presumptive assignment may be appropriate.

¹Most of the documents in the appendix were part of the record on appeal in the district court. To avoid confusion, the record of the appeal in the district court is reproduced in the appendix in its entirety and in the format and order it was presented in district court. AA 25-388. Consequently, the documents in this section of the appendix are in reverse chronological order.

However, appellant also requests that this Court construe and possibly expand or explain its construction of the NIIA regarding when a person on Temporary Total Disability ("TTD") is released for light duty work, what type of of light duty work must be offered to relieve the employer of its duty to continue paying TTD if the offer is rejected. This issue in general has only been addressed by this Court in a very few instances, and it has never been addressed in a context similar to the facts of this case. Therefore, this Court may want to consider retaining this case to address this issue of first impression and state-wide interest regarding this Court's construction of the NIIA. *See* NRAP 17(a)(11) (matters of first impression involving common law, or court construction of the law).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order of the district court denying appellant Vance Taylor's petition for judicial review of a decision of the Nevada Department of Administration Appeals Officer Sheila Y. Moore in a case arising under the NIIA, worker's compensation. AA 586. Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County, Department 6, the Honorable Lynne K. Simons, District Judge.

PARTIES

The Claimant in this matter is Captain Vance Taylor. AA 122-24. Captain Taylor's employer in this matter is the Truckee Meadows Fire Protection District

("TMFPD"). AA 122. The Third-Party Administrator ("TPA") in this matter is Alternative Service Concepts ("ASC"). AA 149. The Public Agency Compensation Trust ("PACT"), was the insurer of Captain Taylor's worker's compensation claim. *Id.* At all relevant times below, ASC acted for and on behalf of, and as the agent of, PACT. *Id.* They are, essentially, together, the insurer. No distinction between PACT as the insurer, and ASC as the TPA acting solely on behalf of PACT as the insurer, was made in the action before the Appeals Officer.²

INTRODUCTION3

Appellant Vance Taylor is employed by Respondent Truckee Meadows Fire Protection District ("TMFPD") as a Fire Suppression Captain with 25 years of experience. He was injured on the job, and rendered totally disabled for a period of time. Although he needed surgery, he needed time to recuperate and gain strength before the surgery could be performed. His treating physician released

²This is evidenced by every document in the record sent by ASC, of which there are many. However, PACT moved to dismiss the petition for judicial review because it was not named as a party to the action. AA 392. The district court denied that motion, finding that there was no distinction between ASC and PACT, and that ASC had been properly named and noticed. AA 483 & 540. We do not believe this is an issue in this appeal.

³Because this section is intended as argument, no citations to the record appear here. Citations to the record supporting the assertions of this introduction will be set forth in the appropriate sections of the brief, *infra*.

him for light duty work. TMFPD assigned him to be a secretary, and to answer to an underling, rather than assigning him available light duty work as a fireman, and a Captain, although such work was available.

Captain Taylor complied. But the disruption and financial strain to his family was intolerable.

Captain Taylor then underwent surgery, which again rendered him temporarily totally disabled. When he was later released to light duty work, TMFPD again assigned him to be a secretary. This time, he refused. TMFPD stopped paying Captain Taylor his disability payments.

TMFPD has maintained throughout these proceedings that TMFPD "does not mean to be demeaning" to Captain Vance Taylor. But offering him a secretary's job which is acquiescent to a separate and disparate logistical operation and supervisory structure is, in fact, demeaning. More importantly, it is a violation of the law and should not have been tolerated by the Appeals Officer.

This case is one of four challenges to the actions of TMFPD that Captain Taylor was required to pursue. The other three are in various stages of process in the system. Although the amount of money involved in this matter may not seem much, the principle is far more important than the principal. What happened here to Captain Taylor is not acceptable.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

I. Whether The Light Duty Job Offered to Captain Taylor by the Employer Satisfied the Requirements of NRS 616C.475(8) and NAC 616C.583.

In order to qualify as a proper offer of light duty employment sufficient to excuse an employer's obligation to pay temporary total disability benefits, the offer must comply with all of the requirements of NRS 616C.475(8) and NAC 616C.583, and be appropriate to the circumstances of the individual case, the individual employee, and the individual circumstances. The job offered in this case did not comply with the law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant Vance Taylor works for Truckee Meadows Fire Protection

District as a Fire Suppression Captain. AA 46. He has been with the TMFPD since 2012, and is currently employed as a fireman by Washoe County, employment that he has had for over 20 years. AA 47. He has been a Captain for over five years. *Id.* He described his duties as follows:

My duties are to supervise my crew. To respond with my crew to all incidents within the District, including structure fires, vehicle fires, wildlife fires, EMS incidents, avalanche, search and rescue, water rescue. It's an all-risk department. So, if you can think of it, we do it. I'm Incident Commander. I'm the Engine Incident Commander for that fire engine.

So, when we get on scene, I take command and command the scene until the Battalion Chief or my supervisor gets on scene and I pass command to him.

AA 47.

The job is physically demanding. The firemen "go from 0-100 miles an hour when they go on these calls." AA 48. It is very strenuous; they are required to "[throw] around a lot of gear. Very heavy gear." *Id.* When they are at a structure fire, their gear that they have to wear weighs in excess of 100 pounds. *Id.*

And their work schedule is also demanding. Firemen must be on call twenty four hours a day, seven days a week. When working, they eat and sleep at the fire station. This requires a special work schedule.

At all times relevant herein, Captain Taylor was working a six day rotating schedule on a 48/96 hour schedule. AA 33; 73-80. That means he would work 48 hours straight, then have 96 hours off, and then repeat that schedule. The schedule rotates because 144 hours equals six, not seven days. So if Captain Taylor began a 48/96 hour work schedule on a Monday, it would end on Saturday, and the next 48/96 hour work schedule would begin on Sunday. *Id*.⁴

⁴The facts regarding Captain Taylor's pre-injury work schedule are not specifically and clearly stated in the record. Most, if not all of the documents begin their discussion of the facts with Captain Taylor's injury. Nevertheless, the

These schedules were set a year in advance, which allowed Captain Taylor and his family to plan their vacation schedules, their child care schedules, his wife's work schedule (which required pre-planned travel to appear at conferences and other events), and other schedules in advance. AA 82-84. This flexible schedule was both a part of the burden and of the benefit of Captain Taylor's life (and the lives of his wife and children) as a firefighter and first responder. *Id.* It is an attribute and benefit of his job that the Appeals Officer regarded and weighed far too lightly.

On April 19, 2016, Captain Taylor was doing a HazMat training drill at work when he severely injured his shoulder. AA 48-50 (detailed description of accident in transcript); AA 122-24.

Captain Taylor stated,

While participating in the Triad's monthly Haz-Mat training I injured my left shoulder during one of the exercises. Drill in turnouts and SCBA (with partner). Rescue a downed firefighter (Haz-Mytech) in a level A suit on the second floor using asked device. While carrying the 200 pound mannequin down the stairs, I was holding the Sked with my left hand and the handrail with my right felt a "pop" followed by intense pain in my left shoulder. Pain did not subside.

AA 122.

facts regarding a fireman's work schedule are assumed throughout the record, are generally discussed at AA 73-80, are discussed in most of the motion papers and briefs, and are not disputed.

Captain Taylor reported the injury to his employer immediately. T 21. AA 121; 251. On April 25, 2016, ACS on behalf of PACT notified Captain Taylor that the insurer had accepted the claim. AA 149. On April 26, 2016, ASC issued their letter informing Captain Taylor of his right to receive TTD benefits. AA 155. Captain Taylor was paid for five days of TTD at that time. *Id*.

Although the record is not clear on the dates and details of Captain Taylor's first return to work on light duty assignment, it appears that he returned at approximately this time and continued until his surgery. *Id.* Caption Taylor testified regarding this time. Prior to surgery, he had to wait three months to gain strength. AA 51. He was offered a job as secretary on a schedule of 8 to 5, Monday through Friday. AA 52. Captain Taylor requested a job that would maintain his fire schedule of 48/96, but his request was denied. *Id.* He was supervised by the Office Secretary, who gave him filing type projects and menial tasks to complete. AA 53-54. Captain Taylor complied, but he was disappointed because he could have been assisting at the fire station for the for the fire Chief, and performing duties more appropriate to his rank and station. AA 54. Captain Taylor testified: "Because I'm a supervisor and I could actually be working for the Chief, because I knew the Chief had many things that he was doing." AA 55.

More importantly, the daily schedule was a burden for his family and their

accustomed lifestyle. Captain Taylor's wife is a published author. Her livelihood depends on travel for conferences, book signings and other appearances. The schedule for caring for the children during Captain Taylor's "on days," and during his wife's preplanned business travels was worked out a year in advance. This schedule could not be maintained on a daily schedule from 8 to 5. Captain Taylor testified, after explaining the fire schedule used by every fire department:

Light duty is 8:00 to 5:00, Monday through Friday. 40 hours. That's it. Not a fire schedule, whatsoever. It's an office staff schedule, which is understandable when you're the Chief, or the Deputy Chief, or a secretary, you work 8:00 to 5:00, Monday through Friday because that's the time that the office is open 8:00 to 5:00. But that is not a fire schedule.

AA 56.

When—when—even clear as back as when we start dating [the Taylors], there's understandable that our fire schedule is completely different than any other schedule that everybody's worked, you know, used to working. It's because it rotates. It's not always the same. It's nice for a family setting because you don't have to put as much day care in. There's four days off that the dad can be home with the kids.

So, the—our whole lives, the whole family, the whole family dynamic is set up around this fire schedule that we know in advance, a year in advance to know what the schedule looks like because it's set. In fact, I can show you what our schedule looks like for the next 20 years, because it's set. It's two days on; four days off and it rotates every six days. That's just how it is.

So, everything about the life, our life, our home life is set up around that. Daycare is set up around it. The fact that I'm off—the

days my wife knows that I'm off is set up around it. She's going to attest—she's going to tell you that she books—she's a writer, author, published author. She goes on business trips and she does book signings and she does consulting work with publishing—with publishers and everything else. That's what she does to make money. Those days, being that my schedule is so set, she plans out her entire—you know, basically her entire year about what conferences she can go to, what conferences she can't go to, around my schedule. Every—all vacations, you know, everything is set up around that schedule.

So, if—once you change that and once you go from that schedule that we've designed our entire lives around, and you change it to 8:00 to 5:00, Monday through Friday, that becomes a hardship because now, she can no longer—she can no longer expect me home during the day, Monday through Friday. I'm at work.

So, she had to change—she'll attest, how much she had to change in her life and it was a financial impact, a great financial impact for us. Then, on top of it, we had to increase our daycare cost. We had to double our daycare costs. Now we had to cover full time daycare instead of me being home taking care of the little one.

AA 57-60.

Staci Taylor, Captain Taylor's wife, testified:

Well, it impacted us both financially and emotionally. Financially, we had to hire childcare to accommodate his schedule because he was no longer able to assist in the four-days. I also—I'm an author, editor and a consultant for a publishing house and a lot of my income is traveling and going to book signings and I go to the publishers to do a lot of different projects that they hire me for. Because of his schedule going from Monday through Friday 8:00 to 5:00, I was forced to cancel all of those.

AA 83.

Captain Taylor's medical treatment to the time of his surgery proceeded as follows.

On April 19, 2016, Captain Taylor presented at the emergency room at Renown South Meadows Medical Center. He was seen by Leland Sullivan, MD, who diagnosed left shoulder strain. AA 128-40. The following day, April 20, 2016, Captain Taylor was evaluated by Dr. Scott Hall at Specialty Health. Dr. Hall ordered an MRI of Captain Taylor's left shoulder and placed Captain Taylor on light duty. AA 141-42.

Captain Taylor then went to Reno Diagnostics Center for an x-ray of the left shoulder, which showed severe glenohumeral osteoarthritis, hydroxyapatite deposition along the greater tuberosity, no visible fracture or dislocation. AA 144.

When re-evaluated by Dr. Hall on April 22, 2016, Dr. Hall again recommended an MRI and placed Captain Taylor on light duty. AA 145-48.

On April 29, 2016, Dr. Vijay Sekhon of Reno Diagnostic Center performed an MRI of Captain Taylor's left shoulder. The MRI findings were:

- 1. Severe glenohumeral joint degenerative changes posteriorly with large areas of full-thickness chondromalacia, bulky osteophytes, and subchondral cysts.
- 2. Large tear of the posterior labrum with associated cartilage delamination.
- 3. Large loose body in the subcoracoid space.
- 4. Calcific tendinitis of the supraspinatus tendon insertion without

- evidence of rotator cuff tear.
- 5. Degenerative type tear of the superior labrum extending into the biceps anchor.

AA at 172.

On May 2, 2016, Captain Taylor again presented to Dr. Hall for a follow up appointment. Dr. Hall referred him to physical therapy and placed him on light duty. AA at 173-77.

Captain Taylor commenced physical therapy on May 10, 2016 and continued 2 to 3 times a week for 4 to 6 weeks. AA 178-79.

During the next follow up appointment with Dr. Hall on May 17, 2016,

Captain Taylor was referred to an orthopedic specialist for further treatment. AA at 181-83.

On May 20, 2016, Captain Taylor attended an initial evaluation at Nevada Orthopedics where he was seen by Dr. Hilary Malcarney. Dr. Malcarney diagnosed osteoarthritis in the left shoulder, left shoulder strain, labral tear, and rotator cuff calcific tendinopathy of the left shoulder. AA at 185-88. She also placed him on restricted duty and referred him to physical therapy. AA 189-90.

On June 13, 2016, Captain Taylor again presented to Dr. Malcarney. At this time, she recommended left shoulder arthroscopy. AA 191-93.

On June 16, 2016, ASC sent a letter to Dr. Malcarney with questions for her

to answer regarding the recommended surgery. AA at 195. Then on June 29, 2016, ASC sent a letter denying surgery pending the response of Dr. Malcarney to the letter with questions they had sent to her. AA 197-98. Also on June 29, 2016, Dr. Malcarney sent her response stating, "Yes, exacerbation of pre-existing osteoarthritis and calcific tendinopathy. Also, exacerbation and likely extension of labral tear." AA 199.

On July 18, 2016, Dr. Malcarney noted her plan to proceed with left shoulder arthroscopy, SAD, labral debridement, chondroplasty, possible biceps tendonesis. AA 200-03.

On July 21, 2016, surgery was performed on Captain Taylor at Surgery Center of Reno. AA 207-11.

At his follow-up appointment with Dr. Malcarney on August 3, 2016, Captain Taylor's sutures were removed and he was referred to physical therapy. AA 216-17. Captain Taylor was released to restricted duty on August 15, 2016. AA at 220.

On September 9, 2016, TMFPD sent a letter to Captain Taylor with an offer of temporary light duty employment. AA 225-26. The letter offering the light duty job provided as follows:

Your treating physician/medical facility has released you to

light duty employment. The purpose of this communication is to document an offer of temporary light duty employment immediately available that is compatible with the physical limitations imposed by your treating physician or chiropractor.

Light duty may be performed with a modification of your current duties and current work location. Your gross wage will either be equal to the gross wage you were earning at the time of your injury, or substantially similar to the gross wage you were earning at the time of your injury, should you be working in a different classification of employment. This position has the same employment benefits as the position you held at the time of your injury.

You will be assigned to the administrative office and your scheduled hours will be Monday Through Friday 8am to 5 pm with an hour lunch. To align the schedule change with the beginning of the FLSA cycle, you will report to the administrative offices on Monday, September 12, 2016 at 8am.

You remain subject to all of Truckee Meadows Fire Protection District's terms and conditions of employment and are to follow procedures and policies related to your employment as you would if you were not working a light duty assignment.

Please complete the Acknowledgment by Workers' Compensation Claimant attached to this letter and return to me no later than.

Captain Taylor refused to accept this offer of light duty employment because it was not substantially similar to his pre-injury job. Specifically, Captain Taylor responded as follows to the offer:

Sandy,

In response to your light duty job offer dated September 9, 2016, offering me light duty as a clerical office assistant at the administrative office from 8:00 am to 5:00 pm Monday through Friday, I hereby respectfully reject your offer of light-duty as written and expected because it does not satisfy the requirements of NRS 616C.475(8) and related case law. I have been in contact with my lawyer as well as the union and have been instructed to address your request as such.

As a 25-year veteran of the Fire Service, I have worked extremely hard to achieve the rank of Captain for the Truckee Meadows Fire Protection District (TMFPD). I feel that your current offer of light duty or TMFPD's current expectations of light duty do not follow the law as outlined in NRS 616C.475(8). Your expectations as set forth in your letter are as follows:

- Dramatically change my work schedule from a 48/96 pay scale which includes FLSA pay to an 8 to 5 Monday thru Friday administration schedule with no FLSA pay and no ability to bank Holiday Comp Time.
- Instead of performing light duties that reflect the position and duties of our normal position, you expect me to complete tasks and duties that reflect that of an office secretary which is humiliating and unlawful. *See Dillard Dept. Stores. Inc. v Beckwith*, 115 Nev. 372, 989 P.2d 882 (1999) (Court awarded claimant \$2,496,112 in damages and \$518,455 in attorney fees and costs for constructive discharge claims because employer placed employee in entry level position, which included document filing, rather than being returned to her management position with the company.)
- You replaced my normal supervising Battalion Chief with an appointed office secretary, which in turn, breaks the normal chain of command established by the fire department.

[Quotes NRS 616C.475(8)]

Your light duty job offer does not comply with the requirements of Nevada law. Moreover, I further object to your light duty job offer for the following reasons:

[There follows a long list of reasons Captain Taylor considered the offer improper]

Sandy, please do not misconstrue this letter as me saying I won't accept a valid light duty job offer that conforms to my rights under the statute. If you would let me to return to my regular schedule, at my assigned station, working under my duty Battalion Chief, I would be more than happy to do so. I cannot lift more than 5 pounds, but I do feel I could still offer some assistance in a capacity that better reflects the duties of my assigned position.

AA 324-26.

Thereafter, on September 26, 2016, ASC sent a letter stating that, due to Captain Taylor's refusal to accept the light duty offer, his TTD benefits were discontinued. AA 227-28.

On September 29, 2016, Captain Taylor filed his request for hearing before the Hearing Officer. AA 228. On November 23, 2016, the Hearing Officer rendered her Decision and Order, "remanding" CCMSI's September 26, 2016 determination. AA 346-48. The decision upheld the determination of the insurer to terminate benefits.

On December 1, 2016, Captain Taylor requested an appeal of the Hearing

Officer's Decision and Order. AA at 349. On December 6, 2016, the Appeals
Officer set the appeal for hearing on February 9, 2017. AA at 350. After several
continuances, the matter was heard by the Appeals Officer on March 2, 2017.
AA 38 (Transcript).

A year later, on February 28, 2018, the Appeals Officer finally rendered her Decision and Order, affirming the insurer's and employer's determination.

AA 30-37.

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