IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Vance Taylor, Appellant, Case No. 78971

Electronically Filed Jan 10 2020 03:33 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

Truckee Meadows Fire Protection District; and Alternative Service Concepts, LLC,

Res ondents.

On Appeal from Final Order Denying Appellant's Petition for Judicial Review by The Second Judicial District of the State of Nevada

In and for the County of Washoe

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

Robert F. Balkenbush, Esq.
State Bar No. 1246
Michael Winn, Esq.
State Bar No. 12556
THORNDAL ARMSTRONG DELK
BALKENBUSH & EISINGER
6590 S. McCarran Blvd., Suite B
Reno, NV 89509
Tel. (775) 786-2882
Facsimile (775) 786-8004

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

IV. Summary of the Argument

Taylor's rejection of his employer's, TMFPD, offer of light duty employment was unreasonable given the offer for employment was substantially similar in terms of working hours, compensation, and location.

Any argument Taylor advances for his refusal related to lack of prestige or subjective value of the temporary assignment finds no support in the law.

Because TMFPD's offer for light duty employment met the statutory and regulatory requirements, the Second District Judicial Court's denial of his petition for judicial review was correct.

V. Argument

a. Standard of Review

This Court independently reviews the application of statutes governing disability payments and addresses these matters anew and without deference to the district court's conclusions. *Amazon.com v. Magee*, 121 Nev. 632, 635, 119 P.3d 732, 734 (2005). The Court has expressly noted it will uphold the plain meaning of the statutory scheme in workers' compensation laws. *Id.* 734-5. Therefore, this analysis turns to the application of statutory and administrative codes.

b. The Appeal Officer's Decision Denying Taylor TTD payments was proper.

The statutory and administrative code both require an offer for temporary employment be substantially similar to the employee's position at the time of

injury in respect to location, hours, pay, and benefits. NRS 616C.475(8) reads in relevant part:

If...physical limitations or restrictions are temporary, the employer...may offer temporary, light-duty employment to the employee...[a]ny offer of temporary, light-duty employment must specify a position that: (a) [i]s substantially similar to the employee's position at the time of his or her injury in relation to the location of the employment and the hours the employee is required to work; (b) [p]rovides a gross wage that is...substantially similar to the gross wage the employee was earning at the time of his or her injury; and (c) [h]as the same employment benefits as the position of the employee at the time of his or her injury.

NRS 616C.475(8). Additionally, "[a]n offer of employment at light duty to an injured employee by his or her employer must... [be] [s]ubstantially similar in terms of the location and the working hours to the position that the injured employee held at the time of the injury." NAC 616C.583.

Taylor argues in this appeal the light-duty designation does not comply with NRS 616C.475(8) because the offer changes Taylor's (1) work schedule, (2) associated pay, (3) work location, (4) job duties, and (5) "chain of command established by the fire department." Appellant's Opening Br., p. 24, ¶ 3. Each of these assertions is now considered in turn.

i. The light-duty assignment was substantially similar in terms of working hours.

The hours offered by the temporary assignment required Taylor to work in total fewer hours than before his injury occurred. Prior to his injury, Taylor was

required to work 48 hour (2-day) work shifts, followed by 96 hours (4 days) off work; this work shift obligated Taylor to work, sleep, and reside at the station for the entirety of the his shift. In contrast, the temporary, light-duty employment assignment required him to work Monday-Friday, 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. for a total of 40 hours. This administrative schedule provided the same wages at a lower minimum hour requirement. While the administrative schedule did require Taylor to work a different schedule, the hour requirement was lower than the 48 hour threshold of his previous schedule.

Furthermore, while Taylor contends that the temporary, light-duty position caused him and his family to incur additional expenses related to daycare, Taylor did not offer into evidence any financial records demonstrating any alleged financial hardship. Accordingly, Taylor fails to provide substantial evidence that the schedule of the temporary, light-duty job caused significant financial hardship on him or his family.

ii. Taylor's wages remained the same as before the injury during the temporary assignment.

Taylor fails to demonstrate any variance in wages caused by the temporary assignment. Taylor argues that he was not afforded the same employment benefits under the temporary, light-duty position, specifically FLSA overtime pay and access to Holiday Comp Time. However, for all his assertions, Taylor did not offer into evidence any contractual documentation that established any differences in the

benefits. Moreover, Taylor fails to cite to anything in the record that would support such contention. *See* NRS 233B.135 ("Judicial review of a final decision of an agency must be...[c]onfined to the record.")

In *Amazon.com*, this Court has made clear "[w]hen read in conjunction with the other sections of NRS 616C.475, NRS 616C.475(8) merely allows an employer to make productive use of an injured employee in lieu of paying that employee 66 2/3 percent of the employee's gross pay while the employee remains temporarily totally disabled. This use is accomplished by offering a properly classified, temporarily totally disabled employee a position similar in location, pay and hours [sic] to the job held pre-injury." 121 Nev. at 637-38. Accordingly, the temporary light-duty position need not meet or exceed all the specifics of the pre-injury position, just so long as it is similar in location, pay and hours.

The temporary, light-duty job offered to Taylor by TMFPD, paid his preinjury monthly wage of \$10,115.39. AA 36. Taylor's average monthly wage under his claim was \$5,426.25, the state maximum allowed for the date of his work-related injury. AA 36. Further, under his claim, Taylor's daily compensation and TTD rate were the maximum allowed by Nevada law for his date of injury, respectively \$118.84 and \$1,663.76. AA 36. Conversely, his hourly rate as a fire captain was \$67,00 per hour. AA 446.

///

iii. The temporary assignment was substantially similar to Taylor's pre-injury employment location.

Next, Taylor argues the offer of light-duty employment failed to comply with NRS 616C.475(8) or is otherwise unreasonable because the location of the temporary employment was six (6) miles away from where his pre-injury position was located. Taylor's argument focuses on the nature of his pre-injury employment and response. However, the change in location was relatively minor and was actually closer to Taylor's residence, than the location of his pre-injury position.

The Court's decision in EG&G Special Projects v. Corselli is instructive on this issue. 102 Nev. 116, 715 P.2d 1326 (1986). In Corselli, this Court concluded that a temporary, light-duty position was not substantially similar to the employee's pre-injury position based primarily on the change of location for his employment. *Id.* at 118. Prior to his injury, the employee, who resided in Riverside, California, made arrangements with his employer to commute by air at government expense to his place of employment, the Nevada Test Site, where he worked three days on, four days off. Id. at 117. Following an injury, his employer made available to him a position as a security officer in Las Vegas, Nevada, even though he had worked as a firefighter at the Nevada Test Site and had lived continuously in Riverside, California for twenty-five years. Id. The Nevada Supreme Court concluded "[a]n offer of employment cannot be considered legitimate if the location of the job imposes an unreasonable burden on the

worker." *Id.* at 119. "The requirement of reasonableness is especially applicable to the location of the job offer." *Id.*

Here, the burden placed on Taylor is arguably non-existent and certainly not unreasonable. While Taylor focuses on the change between the two sites of employment, it must be noted that the location of the temporary, light-duty position, which is located in downtown Reno, is actually closer to Taylor's residence. AA 121. Furthermore, in comparison to *Corselli*, the difference in location is relatively minor and does not place a burden on Taylor to a degree that the temporary, light-duty position was not "substantially similar" to the pre-injury employment. The temporary, light-duty employment offered in *Corselli* required the claimant (a long time resident of Riverside, California), to reside in Las Vegas five days per week, whereas here, the change of location was a mere six miles. This clearly satisfies the "substantially similar" standard.

iv. The nature of the temporary assignment does not render it illegitimate.

Taylor contends that the temporary, light duty position dramatically and effectively demotes Taylor from a Captain to an office secretary, which he alleges is humiliating and unlawful and therefore does not comply with NRS 616C.475(8).

Nevada law does not require that an employee personally approve his postinjury job duties. *Amazon.com*, 121 at 637-38. Nothing in Nevada's jurisprudence suggests that an employee's dislike for his post-injury job is sufficient to contest an employer's compliance with NRS 616C.475(8). *Id*.

While Taylor may subjectively believe the temporary, light duty position is beneath him, his refusal to accept the position was not justified. The position was one that is routinely offered to injured employees and complied with all physical restrictions imposed by his treating physician. *See* NAC 616C.586(2)(a) ("Temporary employment at light-duty offered by an employer which is part of the employer's regular business operation is deemed by law not to be demeaning or degrading or to subject the employee to ridicule or embarrassment.")

Taylor's reliance on *Dillard Dept Stores, Inc. v. Beckwith* to demonstrate retaliatory or constructive discharge is misguided. 115 Nev. 372, 989 P.2d 882 (1999). This Court in *Beckwith* held a tortious discharge occurs when: (1) an employee's resignation was induced by action and conditions that are violative of public policy; (2) a reasonable person in the employee's position at the time of resignation would have also resigned because of the aggravated and intolerable employment actions and conditions; (3) the employer had actual or constructive knowledge of the intolerable actions and conditions and their impact on the employee; and (4) the situation could have been remedied. *Id.* at 377. In *Beckwith*, the employer acknowledged it permanently demoted the plaintiff to an entry-level position because of her workers' compensation claim, the employer requested the

plaintiff return to work against the treating physician's orders, there was open speculation between the plaintiff's co-workers about the demotion, and the employer ignored the plaintiffs complaints about her harmful work environment. *Id. at* 378.

The facts of *Beckwith* do not apply to Taylor. At no point did TMFPD indicate this was a permanent "demotion." Rather, it was communicated to him that this was a "temporary light duty employment immediately available that is compatible with the physical limitations imposed by your treating physician or chiropractor." AA 322. Moreover, Taylor returned to his pre-injury position in November 2016. AA 11-12. There is absolutely no evidence that this position was imposed on Taylor in retaliation for him filing a workers' compensation claim. Finally, at no point did TMPFD require Taylor to return to work against his treating physician's orders. Accordingly, the *Beckwith* decision is inappropriate, and Taylor's reliance upon this decision is misguided and misplaced, the evidence does not support a cognizable constructive discharge claim.

v. Whether an offer for light-duty employment breaks a previously established chain of command is not relevant to this Court's analysis.

Taylor's final contention is that TMPFD's light-duty offer replaced his supervisor from the supervising Battalion Chief to an appointed office secretary.

As a result, Taylor alleges this assignment breaks the established chain of

command, is extremely confusing and restrictive, and adds to the humiliating feeling that he is being punished because he sustained a work-related injury and filed a workers' compensation claim. However Taylor feels about the temporary, light duty assignment is not a consideration set forth by NRS 616C.475(8). Taylor cites no authority to support this position. Accordingly, his refusal to accept the position was not justified as the offer clearly complied with NRS 616C.475(8).

c. The light-duty offer was reasonable and lawful.

Taylor now argues the light-duty job offer was unreasonable and degrading. Taylor relies on *Corselli* and Minutes of the Senate Committee on Commerce and Labor for this proposition. Taylor once again argues his job duties were different, unrelated, removed him from the chain of command, and caused him to be a filing clerk as opposed to someone "who arrives on scene and takes command." Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 37, 113. Each of these contentions was herein previously addressed and none render illegitimate the temporary, light duty position.

VI. Conclusion

The temporary, light duty position that was offer to Taylor by TMFPD on September 9, 2016, met all the statutory and regulatory requirements and was part of the employer's regular business operations, essentially immediately available, and compatible with the restrictions imposed by his treating physician.

Furthermore, the position was substantially similar to Taylor's pre-injury position in relation to the location of the employment, the hours he was required to work, and the wages that he was earning prior to injury. Accordingly, based on the foregoing, the Respondents respectfully request this Court affirm the Second Judicial Court's decision denying the petition for judicial review.